RECEIVED

NOV 06 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-001871

City of North Charleston, .....Respondent,

v.

John Barra, .....Appellant,

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Thomas C. Nelson, Esquire  
S.C. Bar ID 71178  
Post Office Box 1385  
Mt. Pleasant, South Carolina 29465  
Telephone (843) 284-5500 ext. 226  
Facsimile (843) 284-5501  
email to: [tnelson@charlestonlaw.net](mailto:tnelson@charlestonlaw.net)  
Attorney for Appellant

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN DENYING THIS APPEAL WHERE THE VIDEO CAMERA WAS INEXPLICABLY OUT OF FOCUS DURING ONE OF THE FIELD SOBRIETY TESTS ADMINISTERED TO APPELLANT IN VIOLATION OF S.C. CODE ANN. § 56-5-2953 AND WHERE THE ARRESTING OFFICER DID NOT SUBMIT AN AFFIDAVIT PROVING AN EXCEPTION?
  
- II. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN DENYING THIS APPEAL WHERE IT DID NOT REVIEW THE FIELD SOBRIETY TESTING PROCEDURE DEFICIENCIES RAISED BY APPELLANT BEFORE DECIDING THAT THE ISSUE IS ONE FOR A JURY?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal arises from a Municipal Court criminal conviction for driving under the influence, 1<sup>st</sup> offense. The North Charleston Municipal Court, the Honorable Thaddeus James Doughty presiding, held trial as follows: jury selection on August 20, 2013; motions on August 21, 2013; and trial on August 22, 2013. On or about August 22, 2013, a jury convicted Appellant of the criminal offense of driving under the influence.

On August 28, 2013, Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal to the circuit court. The municipal judge filed his return on September 17, 2013. On July 15, 2014, the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr. heard the appeal. On July 21, 2014, Judge Nicholson issued an order denying the appeal. On August 18, 2014, Judge Nicholson denied Appellant's motion to reconsider without hearing. This appeal followed.

## **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

On February 1, 2013, a North Charleston police officer initiated a traffic stop on Appellant and commenced an investigation to determine whether Appellant was driving under the influence. During the investigation, the officer purported to administer field sobriety tests and subsequently arrested Appellant. [R. p. 80]

At trial, before the court heard any testimony, Appellant made a pre-trial motion to suppress the FST's because the arresting officer did not comply with his training and the standards set forth by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration ("NHTSA") in the administration of these tests. [R. p. 29] Appellant also made a pre-trial motion to dismiss based upon defects in the video recording because the video equipment's focus malfunctioned during one of the FST's. [R. p. 29] The trial judge denied both of these motions but allowed

Appellant's counsel to cross-examine the arresting officer using the officer's field sobriety training manual regarding the administration and results of the field sobriety test. [R. p. 3]

## ARGUMENTS

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). Thus, an appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* “In criminal appeals from magistrate . . . court, the circuit court does not conduct a *de novo* review, but instead reviews for preserved error raised to it by appropriate exception.” *State v. Henderson*, 347 S.C. 455, 457, 556 S.E.2d 691, 692 (Ct. App. 2001); S.C. Code Ann. § 18-3-70 (Supp. 2013) (“The appeal [from a magistrate in a criminal case] must be heard by the Court of Common Pleas upon the grounds of exceptions made and upon the papers required under this chapter, without the examination of witnesses in that court. And the court may either confirm the sentence appealed from, reverse or modify it, or grant a new trial, as to the court may seem meet and conformable to law.”).

In criminal appeals from the magistrate court, the circuit court is bound by the magistrate court's findings of fact if any evidence in the record reasonably supports them. *See City of Greer v. Humble*, 402 S.C. 609, 613, 742 S.E.2d 15, 17 (Ct. App. 2013). “Moreover, [q]uestions of statutory interpretation are questions of law, which are subject to *de novo* review and which [an appellate court is] free to decide without any deference to the court below.” *Id.*

**I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING THIS APPEAL BECAUSE THE VIDEO CAMERA WAS INEXPLICABLY OUT OF FOCUS DURING ONE OF THE FIELD SOBRIETY TESTS ADMINISTERED TO APPELLANT IN VIOLATION OF S.C. CODE ANN. § 56-5-2953 AND BECAUSE THE ARRESTING OFFICER DID NOT SUBMIT AN AFFIDAVIT PROVING AN EXCEPTION EXISTS.**

(A) Summary.

DUI arrests must be video recorded. S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(A) provides: “A person who violates Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945 must have his conduct at the incident site and the breath test site video recorded.” “The video recording at the incident site must . . . include any field sobriety tests administered.” S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(A)(1)(a)(ii).

If a video violates the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953, then it is not automatically fatal to the prosecution’s case if the officer submits the affidavit required by the statute. Specifically:

Failure by the arresting officer to produce the video recording required by this section is not alone a ground for dismissal of any charge made pursuant to Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945 if the arresting officer submits a sworn affidavit certifying that the video recording equipment at the time of the arrest or probable cause determination, or video equipment at the breath test facility was in an inoperable condition, stating which reasonable efforts have been made to maintain the equipment in an operable condition, and certifying that there was no other operable breath test facility available in the county or, in the alternative, submits a sworn affidavit certifying that it was physically impossible to produce the video recording because the person needed emergency medical treatment, or exigent circumstances existed.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(B) (emphasis added).

Here, the video violated S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953 because it becomes blurry during the administration of the FST’s from the 44:27 mark until the 46:30 mark, a total of approximately 2 minutes and 3 seconds. The entire recording of the one-leg stand test is distorted, and it is impossible to evaluate Appellant’s balance during this test. Had the arresting

officer simply submitted an affidavit stating that it was physically impossible to submit a compliant video due to a malfunction of the equipment and stating which reasonable efforts have been made to maintain the equipment in an operable condition, Appellant would likely not be raising this issue.

However, the officer did not submit such an affidavit. The failure to submit this affidavit did not allow Appellant's counsel to evaluate the propriety of the malfunction or determine whether the violation of § 56-5-2953 was excusable. The failure to submit this affidavit is fatal to the prosecution's case.

(B) Importance of Viewing the Balance Component of the One Leg Stand.

The One Leg Stand ("OLS") is a test of balance. When administering this test, the arresting officer follows the procedures proscribed by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration ("NHTSA"). In making his pre-trial motion to the municipal judge, and in cross-examining the arresting officer, the arguments and questions revolved around the officer's training manual. [R. pp. 29, 58]

According to the NHTSA manual, the officer looks for four clues:

1. Whether the suspect sways while balancing.
2. Whether the suspect uses arms for balance by raising them more than 6 inches from his or her sides.
3. Whether the suspect hops to maintain balance.
4. Whether the suspect puts his or her foot down one or more times during the 30-second test.

[R. p. 72, ¶ 3A – D] The officer then "grades" a suspect on performance by determining whether the suspect "shows two or more clues or fails to complete the One-Leg Stand." [R. p. 72 ¶ 3] If

a video of a suspect performing the OLS does not allow for meaningful review of these four “clues,” then the video does not “include” this FST and violates § 56-5-2953.

In *State v. Gordon*, Opinion 5226 (Ct. App. 2014), *cert. granted* November 19, 2014, this Court reversed a municipal court conviction for DUI and remanded the case to the municipal court for a factual finding of whether the video adequately showed the head during the horizontal gaze nystagmus (“HGN”) test. For a police officer to evaluate the performance of the HGN test, the officer “watches the driver’s eyeballs to detect involuntary jerking.” *Gordon*, fn. 1. According to the NHTSA training manual, of which the trial judge reviewed and allowed cross examination of the officer, the officer “should look for three clues of nystagmus in **each** eye: (1) the eye cannot follow a moving object smoothly; (2) Nystagmus is distinct and sustained when the eye is held at maximum deviation for a minimum of four seconds; (3) The angle of onset of nystagmus is prior to 45 degrees.” [R. pp. 64 – 65] (emphasis added). The officer then determines whether the suspect exhibited 4 of the 6 clues. [R. p. 67]

During the One Leg Stand (“OLS”), which is the relevant test to this issue, according to the NHTSA manual, the officer looks for the following clues:

- A. The suspect sways while balancing. This refers to side-to-side or back-and-forth motion while the suspect maintains the one-leg stand position.
- B. Uses arms for balance. Suspect moves arms 6 or more inches from the side of the body in order to keep balance.
- C. Hopping. Suspect is able to keep one foot off the ground but resorts to hopping in order to maintain balance.
- D. Puts foot down. The suspect is not able to maintain the one-leg stand position, putting the foot down one or more times during the 30-second count.

[R. p. 72]

In other words, the OLS test is a **balance test**. During the incident site video, the blur that last approximately two minutes distorts the video recording and makes it impossible to

evaluate Appellant's balance during the test and impossible to evaluate whether Appellant swayed while balancing or used his arms for balance. If the head needs to be seen during the HGN test, then certainly the video needs to be of sufficient quality to evaluate a suspect's balancing during the OLS.

(C) Video in Case at Hand.

The officer is required to "produce the video recording required by [Section 2953]." S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(B) (emphasis added). The video recording "required by Section 2953" must include "any field sobriety tests administered." If the video recording does not allow for review of the defendant's balance during the OLS, it violates Section 2953.

The municipal judge stated in his return that the "picture was a little out of focus for a minute, but not to the extent you could not see the administration of the tests." [R. p. 3] The municipal judge then stated: "§ 56-5-2953 requires an affidavit if an officer fails to produce a video, which is not the situation in this case. You could still see the administration of the tests at all times." [R. p. 3] Here, the municipal judge clearly ignored the plain language of Section 2953, which requires not just any video, but a video that "includes any field sobriety tests administered." The municipal judge also focused on whether it showed the administration of the tests, not whether the test properly allowed one to review whether Appellant swayed, hopped, or used arms for balance.

The circuit court on appeal found that "even though it's blurry, you can still see the subject raising his legs on the leg raise." [R. p. 56, lines 12 – 20] However, the circuit court did not address whether the video allowed one to determine (1) whether Appellant swayed while balancing, (2) whether Appellant used arms for balance, (3) whether Appellant hopped to maintain balance, or (4) whether Appellant put his foot down during the test. Appellant raised

this issue in his motion to reconsider, which the circuit court denied without hearing. [R. pp. 2, 14]

A viewing of the two-minute portion of the video (44:27 mark until the 46:30 mark) will clearly allow this Court to evaluate whether the video allows meaningful review of whether Appellant swayed or used arms for balance, which should be required for the video to comply with Section 2953. [R. DVD affixed to back cover]

(D) Law Regarding Compliance with § 56-5-2953.

“Our appellate courts have strictly construed section 56-5-2953 and found that a law enforcement agency’s failure to comply with these provisions is fatal to the prosecution of a DUI case.” *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*, 393 S.C. 332, 346, 713 S.E.2d 278, 285 (2011). In other words, an inexcusable violation of § 56-5-2953 results in dismissal. *City of Rock Hill v. Suchenski*, 374 S.C. 12, 646 S.E.2d 879 (2007).

(E) Exceptions.

If an arresting officer is unable to submit a video that complies with § 56-5-2953, the arresting officer needs only to submit an affidavit stating that an exception applies. If the court finds the reason in this affidavit to be acceptable, the court is not required to dismiss the charge on the basis of the 2953 violation. The exceptions can come in two primary forms:

1. The officer may say that the video recording equipment at the arrest site was inoperable and state which reasonable efforts have been made to maintain the equipment in an operable condition.
2. The officer may say that it was physically impossible to produce the video because of emergency medical treatment or other exigent circumstances.

S.C. Code Ann § 56-5-2953(B).

The requirements imposed on law enforcement by § 56-5-2953 are of minimal burden, if any. In *City of Greer v. Humble*, 402 S.C. 609, 742 S.E.2d 15 (Ct. App. 2013), this Court reviewed the sufficiency of an affidavit submitted in a case where no video was provided. In *Humble*, the arresting officer submitted an affidavit that stated “[a]t the time of the defendant’s arrest, or probable cause determination, the video equipment in the vehicle I was operating was in an inoperable condition and reasonable efforts had been made to maintain the equipment in an operable condition.” Testimony from the officer at trial suggested that the police did not adequately respond to complaints concerning the equipment. The municipal judge in *Humble* dismissed the case, finding that the police department’s “efforts” were not enough. After the circuit court reversed, this Court reinstated the municipal judge’s decision:

Contrary to the circuit court’s reasoning, dismissal of Humble’s DUI charge does not set precedent that only routine maintenance and preventative measures constitute reasonable efforts. Rather, the determination of whether reasonable efforts were made to maintain the video equipment in an operable condition is a determination to be made on a case-by-case basis. To borrow a quote from Michel de Montaigne, we find that in its most basic sense, the municipal court merely found “saying is one thing and doing is another.” Quite simply, the statute requires reasonable efforts. The municipal court essentially found as a fact that saying something is broken while refusing to pay for a repair visit is not enough. The “reasonable efforts” language of the statute requires some “doing,” and refusing to pay for repair visits evades the intent of the statute and is not “doing” enough to constitute reasonable efforts to maintain the video equipment in an operable condition. We find the limited record before us supports the decision of the municipal court and, thus, the circuit court erred in reversing the municipal court.

*Humble*, 402 S.C. at 620, 472 S.E.2d at 21.

Here, despite this Court clearly placing the burden on the prosecution to show what *reasonable* efforts were made to maintain the equipment, the State offered no affidavit, testimony, or other evidence regarding the condition of the video recording equipment, whether this issue has occurred in the past, or attesting to whether any reasonable efforts have been made to maintain the equipment.

Appellant is not requesting a precedent be set that any time a video is deficient, the case should result in a dismissal. Appellant is requesting that the State be held to its burden of proving the existence of an exception. The issue of whether efforts were reasonable is not reached here because there is no evidence of any efforts. Had the officer simply provided an affidavit stating that his camera had not exhibited problems in the past and stated the frequency and nature of any inspections, the trial court could have made a determination whether reasonable efforts were made to maintain the equipment.

This case is distinguishable from *Murphy v. State*, 709 S.E.2d 685, 392 S.C. 626 (Ct. App. 2011). In *Murphy*, during the traffic stop Murphy was made to walk a straight line. However, during this sobriety test, the videotape only recorded her from essentially the knees up, and in portions only displayed half her body as she walked to the limit of the camera's field of view. In addition, HGN was conducted. However, the officer conducted this test in the spot where Murphy stood after completing the straight-line test, with her back to the car, on the fringe of the dashboard camera's field of view. The Court of Appeals upheld the conviction but made clear that *Murphy* was decided under the old (pre-2009) DUI law. *Id.*, fn 4. Specifically, the 2009 amendment added the requirement that "[t]he video recording at the incident site must . . . include any field sobriety tests administered." S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(A)(1)(ii).

This Court recently reviewed a case similar to *Murphy* except that the case was subject to the current (post-2009) law, like the case at hand. In *State v. Taylor*, 411 S.C. 294, 768 S.E.2d 71 (Ct. App. 2014), the defendant was off-camera for a period of time while the officer repositioned his vehicle. This Court reversed the dismissal, but distinguished *Taylor* from the case at hand. Notably, this Court stated in *Taylor*:

Although the video omitted Taylor from its view during the repositioning of Tolley's patrol vehicle, none of the field sobriety tests administered and none of the other statutory requirements occurred while she was out of the camera's view.

*Taylor*, 411 S.C. at 306, 768 S.E.2d at 78 (emphasis added).

Here, unlike *Taylor*, the defective portion of the video occurs during a field sobriety test. There are no exigent circumstances giving rise to an exception, and the arresting officer did not submit an affidavit even acknowledging the defect in the video resulting from the equipment's condition or stating what reasonable efforts were made to maintain it.

Accordingly, because the State did not prove any exception applies regarding the violation of § 2953, this Court should reverse the trial judge's ruling and dismiss the charge against Appellant or remand the charge for its dismissal. To the extent this Court believes that a factual finding was made by the municipal judge or the circuit judge, this Court should disregard those findings because they ignored the importance of the "balance" evaluation of the OLS and because they are clearly erroneous. Under no interpretation of the viewing of the 2-minute portion of the video can one claim that he or she can evaluate Appellant's balance or whether Appellant hopped, swayed, or used arms for balance during the test.

(F) Remedy.

Because the arresting officer did not produce a video that complies with 2953 and did not provide an affidavit giving any basis for an exception, the remedy is dismissal of the charge.

In various contexts, this Court and the South Carolina Supreme Court have dismissed driving under the influence cases due to violations of Section 2953. *See State v. Gordon*, 408 S.C. 536, 759 S.E.2d 755, 2014 S.C. App. LEXIS 89, 2014 WL 1614854 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Apr. 23, 2014) (reversing a magistrate's court conviction for DUI when the video tape did not appear to show the defendant's head during the administration of the HGN); *State v. Henkel*, 404 S.C. 626, 746 S.E.2d 347 (Ct. App. 2013) (dismissing a charge of DUI because the video did not

include the first Miranda warning or either field sobriety test); *City of Greer v. Humble*, 402 S.C. 609, 742 S.E.2d 15 (Ct. App. 2013) (upholding a municipal judge's grant of a motion to dismiss where the police department did not use reasonable efforts to maintain its video recording equipment); *State v. Johnson*, 396 S.C. 182, 720 S.E.2d 516 (Ct. App. 2011) (reversing a magistrate's decision to suppress evidence due to the failure to provide a video tape of the breath test procedure and holding that dismissal was the proper remedy); *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*, 393 S.C. 332, 713 S.E.2d 278 (2011) (affirming a circuit judge's decision to dismiss a DUI case due to a prolonged failure of a police department to equip its patrol cars with video cameras); *City of Rock Hill v. Suchenski*, 646 S.E.2d 879, 374 S.C. 12 (2007) (upholding a dismissal of a DUI charge where the video did not include the third field sobriety test administered).

Each of these cases, including *Roberts* and *Suchenski* issued by our Supreme Court, make it clear that a dismissal should occur when the statute is inexcusably violated and when no exception applies. Indeed, when the DUI statute was amended in 2009, it took no exception to the *Suchenski* holding of 2007. The General Assembly is presumed to be aware of an appellate court's interpretation of a statute, and where that statute has been amended, but no change has been made that affects the Court's interpretation, the legislature's inaction is evidence that the Court's interpretation is correct. E.g. *McLeod v. Starnes*, 396 S.C. 647, 723 S.E.2d 198 (2012).

However, a recent case might be misconstrued as to the proper remedy for a violation of 2953. Specifically, *State v. Sawyer*, 409 S.C. 475, 763 S.E.2d 183 (2014) had lengthy discussion by both the majority and the dissent regarding the remedy for a Section 2953 violation. This discussion should carry little weight because the defendant in *Sawyer* did not request a dismissal of the case, only a suppression of evidence. Suppression of evidence may fall under a different

standard, including applying a prejudice analysis, but the fact that the defendant in *Sawyer* did not pursue all available remedies under the statute does not change the law. Here, Appellant clearly requested a dismissal of his charge. Nevertheless, the *Sawyer* court granted the relief requested by the defendant and found that the evidence should have been suppressed due to the breath site video containing no audio.

Even in cases where our Supreme Court did not rule in the defendant's favor, it has consistently expressed the importance of Section 2953. In *State v. Hercheck*, 743 S.E.2d 798, 801 (2013), the South Carolina Supreme Court stated: “[W]e agree with the court of appeals’ analysis concerning the legislative purpose behind the videotape requirements. In *Roberts*, this Court stated that ‘the purpose of section 56-5-2953 . . . is to create direct evidence of a DUI arrest.’” Here, evidence has been lost due to the camera’s inexplicable blurring during the entire one-leg stand test.

## **II. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING THIS APPEAL BECAUSE IT DID NOT REVIEW THE FIELD SOBRIETY TESTING PROCEDURE DEFICIENCIES RAISED BY APPELLANT BEFORE DECIDING THAT THE ISSUE IS ONE FOR A JURY.**

### **(A) Strict or Substantial Compliance with Field Sobriety Testing Procedures.**

Regarding this issue, the municipal judge’s return states:

The defendant first contends that the trial judge erred in admitting evidence of field sobriety tests administered to appellant where the arresting officer substantially deviated from his training while administering the field sobriety tests. The appellant goes through each test and how he asserts the officer in the case deviated from the test.

The appellant’s argument fails because the appellant’s attorney was allowed to question the officer who testified in this case on his administration of each test using the training manual. Furthermore, whether or not the officer conducted the test properly and whether this compromised the results of the tests were factual questions for the jury. The training manual is not a statute or law.

[R. p. 3]

This ruling implies that the admission of field sobriety testing should *always* go to the jury. Similarly, the circuit judge hearing the appeal seemed to rule that field sobriety tests are automatically admissible regardless of whether the arresting officer deviates from the proscribed testing manner. [R. p. 46, line 16 – p. 48, line 5] In other words, without hearing about the alleged deficiencies in this case, the circuit judge decided that the officer’s compliance is for the jury to decide.

Both the municipal judge and the circuit judge overlooked the court’s role as the gatekeeper of evidence and did not consider the prejudicial nature of an incorrectly administered test. Rule 403, SCRE. Appellant asks this Court to remand this case so that the municipal judge will review the field sobriety tests prior to their admission into evidence with an eye towards whether the arresting officer strictly or substantially complied with the standardized testing procedures and to conduct a 403 prejudice analysis. Specifically, Appellant requests this Court to remand the case and direct the municipal judge to make a finding regarding whether the arresting officer strictly or substantially complied with standardized testing procedures.

South Carolina has never issued an opinion regarding the admission of field sobriety tests when the arresting officer is accused of administering them incorrectly. Probably the closest case to lend guidance is *State v. Sullivan*, 310 S.C. 311, 316, 426 S.E.2d 766 (1993). In *Sullivan*, the South Carolina Supreme Court held “that testimony relating to the HGN test was admissible in the present case because the HGN test was used in conjunction with other field sobriety tests to establish evidence of DUI.” (emphasis added). There is logic to this requirement. The NHTSA manual provides:

- HGN, by itself, was 77% accurate
- WAT, by itself, was 68% accurate
- OLS, by itself, was 65% accurate
- By combining HGN and WAT an 80% accuracy can be achieved.

[R. p. 60]

While Appellant does not concede the accuracy of these percentages, they indicate that the entity that created the “standardized field sobriety tests” finds greater utility in the tests when they are administered as a test battery and not in isolation. Our Supreme Court in *Sullivan* agreed. The next logical step is to not just require the entire test battery to be performed together, but to require the tests to be administered correctly. Ohio has taken that step.

In *State v. Homan*, 732 N.E.2d 952, 89 Ohio St.3d 421, 2000-Ohio-212 (Ohio 2000), the Ohio Supreme Court discussed the importance of requiring that a police officer strictly comply with NHTSA standards when administering a field sobriety test. In *Homan*, the Court began its discussion by stating: “When field sobriety testing is conducted in a manner that departs from established methods and procedures, the results are inherently unreliable.” *Id.* at 424. The Court later noted: “The small margins of error that characterize field sobriety tests make strict compliance critical.” *Id.* at 425. Although the Ohio Supreme Court only required substantial compliance (1) in cases regarding an administrative regulation that required urine specimens to be refrigerated when not in transit or under examination and (2) in cases regarding Department of Health regulations in regard to breathalyzer testing being admissible at trial, the Court distinguished field sobriety testing from these scenarios and required strict compliance of the administration of an FST. *Id.* at 425. (emphasis added).

The *Homan* Court further reasoned:

When field sobriety testing is conducted in a manner that departs from established methods and procedures, the results are inherently unreliable. In an extensive study, the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> “The NHTSA has been a leader in the study and development of field sobriety testing policy and procedure. The NHTSA’s standardized test manuals form the basis for manuals used by state law enforcement agencies across the country. Taylor, *Drunk Driving Defense* (5 Ed. 2000), Section 4.3.2.” *Homan*, fn 4.

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