IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED  
NOV 02 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

---

Case No. 2014-001871

---

John Barra.....Appellant,  
v.  
City of North Charleston.....Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

J. Brady Hair, Esquire  
Derk Van Raalte, Esquire  
Joseph Kaiser, Esquire  
Frances Austin, Esquire  
Samantha Vaughn, Esquire  
Kriston Neely, Esquire  
2500 City Hall Lane  
North Charleston, South Carolina 29406  
Telephone (843)-740-2550  
Facsimile (843)-745-1082  
Attorneys for Respondent

**

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

## Arguments

### Standard of Review

“In criminal cases, an appellate court sits to review errors of law only. Therefore, an appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” *State v. Banda*, 371 S.C. 245, 351, 639 S.E.2d 36, 39 (2006). “In criminal appeals from magistrate or municipal court, the circuit court does not conduct a de novo review, but instead reviews for preserved error raised to it by appropriate exception.” *Rogers v. State*, 358 S.C. 266, 269, 594 S.E.2d 278, 279 (Ct. App. 2004).

#### I. **THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THIS APPEAL WHERE THE VIDEO CAMERA WAS OUT OF FOCUS DURING ONE OF THE FIELD SOBRIETY TESTS ADMINISTERED TO APPELLANT**

Section 56-5-2953(A) of the South Carolina Code states that “A person who violates “Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945 must have his conduct at the incident site and the breath test site video recorded. The video recording at the incident site must ... include any field sobriety tests administered.” S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(A)(1)(a)(ii). The government’s inability to provide the required videotape in compliance with the requirements of section 56-5-2953 is usually “fatal to the prosecution of a DUI case.” *Town of Mount Pleasant v. Roberts*, 393 S.C. 332, 346, 713 S.E. 2d 278, 285 (2011). However, failure to comply with the videotaping requirements of section 56-5-2953 is not always fatal to the government’s prosecution if the arresting officer provides an affidavit. See S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(B). Affidavits are not, of course, required if the tape exists and is sufficient.

A. RESPONDENT PROVIDED APPELLANT WITH A VIDEOTAPE IN COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 56-5-2953

In order to prosecute a DUI case, the government must provide a videotape of the incident site or provide an affidavit executed by the arresting officer why a videotape was not provided. *See Town of Mount Pleasant v. Roberts*, 393 S.C. 332, 346, 713 S.E. 2d 278, 285 (2011).

South Carolina courts have held numerous videotapes to be insufficient when measured to the requirements of section 56-5-2953. In *State v. Gordon*, 408 S.C. 536, 759 S.E. 2d 755 (Ct. App. 2014), this Court reversed a magistrate court's conviction for DUI when the videotape did not show the defendant's head during the administration of the horizontal gaze nystagmus test. The State Supreme Court affirmed a lower court's decision to dismiss a DUI following a protracted absence of video cameras in a police department's cruisers. *Town of Mount Pleasant v. Roberts*, 393 S.C. 332, 346, 713 S.E. 2d 278, 285 (2011). In *City of Rock Hill v. Suchenski*, 347 S.C. 12, 646 S.E.2d 879 (2007), the Supreme Court upheld a dismissal of a DUI because the government failed to record one of the FSTS administered to the defendant.

1. ALL FIELD SOBRIETY TESTS WERE RECORDED ON THE INCIDENT SITE VIDEO.

Here, Respondent complied fully with the requirements of section 56-5-2953 because all the field sobriety tests were captured on video. Respondent provided Appellant with an incident site videotape. (R. p. 3). Prior to the trial, the presiding judge reviewed the videotape and found that Appellant was in view of the camera during the administration during all of the FSTS although "[t]he picture was a little out of focus for a minute." (R. p.

3). Specifically, a viewer was able to “see the administration of the tests at all times.” (R. p. 3).

The videotape in the present case is significantly different from the videotapes in *Gordon*, *Roberts* and *Suchenski*. The videotapes in those cases excluded whole FSTS or in *Gordon* a significant portion of the defendant’s body during the administration of the FSTS. In this case, Appellant takes issue with the quality of the recording of the FSTS. See Appellant’s Initial Brief at 3 (“The entire recording of the one-leg stand test is distorted”). However, section 56-5-2953 and South Carolina case law impose no duty as to the quality of a videotape only that the defendant’s conduct at the incident site be recorded. See S. C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953. Further, the tape quality of even the parts Appellant complains of here is reasonable and sufficient for a jury to view the defendant’s performance on all the field sobriety tests.

In criminal appeals, appellate courts “review errors of law only.” *State v. Muquit*, 381 S.C. 114, 118, 671 S.E.2d 643, 645 (Ct. App. 2009). The appellate court is “bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” *Id.* Here, there is no indication in the record that the presiding judge’s finding that administration of the FSTS was not able to be viewed on the videotape provided by Respondent.

Because the videotape provided by Respondent complied with section 56-5-2953 and the factual finding by the presiding judge the ruling of the lower court should be affirmed.

2. NO AFFIDAVIT AS PROVIDED FOR IN SC CODE § 56-5-2953(B) WAS  
REQUIRED

Appellant contends that Respondent should have provided an affidavit as provided for section 56-5-2953(B). Appellant's Initial Brief at 4. However, no affidavit was required because Respondent complied with the videotaping requirements of section 56-5-2953.

The presiding judge in the instant case found that the administration of all the FSTS was captured on video. (R. p. 3). This is a clear finding of fact that cannot be overturned unless it is clearly erroneous. *State v. Muquit*, 381 S.C. 114, 118, 671 S.E.2d 643, 645 (Ct. App. 2009). Nothing in the record indicates that the presiding judge's finding of fact was clearly erroneous. As a matter of law, the trial judge then found that no affidavit was required since a tape existed. (R. p. 3). The trial judge's ruling is correct. Appellant has been unable to find any reported South Carolina case that required an affidavit where an adequate video tape existed under SC Code § 56-5-2953.

Because of the presiding judge's finding of fact that all the FSTS were captured on the videotape, no affidavit as provided for in section 56-5-2953(B) was required to be provided by Respondent in this case.

**II. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THIS APPEAL WHERE IT DID NOT REVIEW THE FIELD SOBRIETY TESTING PROCEDURE DEFICIENCIES RAISED BY APPELLANT BEFORE DECIDING THAT THE ISSUE IS ONE FOR A JURY.**

South Carolina Rule of Evidence 403 provides:

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

Appellate courts give great deference to trial judges' admission of evidence under SCRE 403. *Lee v. Bunch*, (S.C. 2007) 373 S.C. 654, 647 S.E.2d 197. Only "in exceptional circumstances" should an appellate court reverse "[a] trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence." *State v. Stephens* 398 S.C. 314, 319, 728 S.E.2d 68, 71 (Ct. App. 2012). The presiding judge controls the admissibility of evidence and the admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial judge. *State v. Spears*, 403 S.C. 247, 742 S.E.2d 878 (Ct. App. 2013). However, once evidence is admitted, the jury is "the ultimate fact finder." *State v. Webb*, 389 S.C. 174, 182 697 S.E.2d 662, 666 (Ct. App. 2010).

Appellant is unable to find any reported South Carolina case that requires exact compliance with National Highway Transportation Safety Administration guidelines as a foundational requirement for the introduction of FSTS as evidence in prosecution under SC Code Ann. § 56-5-2930. Appellant only cites *State v. Homan*, 732 N.E.2d 952, 89 Ohio St.3d 421, 2000-Ohi-212 (Ohio 2000) which Respondent believes is Ohio law made by Ohio lawyers best left in Ohio.

**A. APPELLANT WAS GIVEN AN OPPORTUNITY TO CROSS-EXAMINE THE OFFICER; THUS CURING ANY ISSUES ON HOW THE OFFICER CONDUCTED THE FSTS**

Here, Appellant was offered the opportunity to cross-examine the officer regarding the officer's training with the NHTSA FSTS training manual and how the officer conducted the FSTS with Appellant. (R. p. 3). Allowing the jury to hear testimony regarding FSTS while allowing Appellant the opportunity to cross-examine the officer regarding his training regarding FSTS could not possibly meet the abuse of discretion standard because the record presents no

“exceptional circumstances” that would permit this Court to substitute its judgement for that of the trial judge. *State v. Stephens*, 398 S.C. 314, 319, 728 S.E.2d 68, 71 (Ct. App. 2012).

#### B. THE JURY IS THE PROPER FINDER OF FACT

Whether or not the FSTS were performed in accordance with NHSTSA guidelines is a factual question. The jury is “the ultimate fact finder.” *State v. Webb*, 389 S.C. 174, 182 697 S.E.2d 662, 666 (Ct. App. 2010). As such, it is appropriate for the trial judge to allow the jury to hear testimony regarding the FSTS and for Appellant to cross-examine the officer regarding the FSTS. Allowing the evidence concerning the FSTS in under the appropriate Rule 403 analysis, the trial judge properly allowed the fact finder to determine if the FSTS were performed in accordance with NHTSA guidelines

#### CONCLUSION